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This book is dedicated to the memory of Jack Platt and to the men and women who serve in obscurity for the purpose of intelligence gathering.
















Recruitment is almost like a first love—a fateful, tragic love, whose price is sometimes paid in freedom, if not life itself. Danger, fear, the sense of uniqueness, bind the agent and his control so strongly that in many cases they develop an addiction to each other.


—Major Yuri Shvets, KGB officer 1980–1990

















Dramatis Personae



Americans


Aldrich “Rick” Ames (b. 1941)—In 1962, Ames joined the CIA, where he began working in the SE (Soviet/East Europe) Division with Jack Platt in 1972. He started spying for the Soviets in 1985 (earning $4.6 million). Like Robert Hanssen, he sold out many CIA assets who were friends of Gennady Vasilenko. One major asset destroyed was Dmitri Polyakov (TOP HAT), who had been supervised by Sandy Grimes, who then led the team that was successful in rolling up Ames, with the help of AVENGER (Colonel Aleksandr Zaporozhsky). Arrested in 1994, Ames is now serving a life sentence in the Federal Correctional Institution in Terre Haute, Indiana.


Milt Bearden (b. 1940)—Born in Oklahoma and raised in Washington State, Bearden was recruited by the CIA in 1964 while studying Chinese at the University of Texas, Austin. Bearden was a CIA station chief and covert officer in numerous overseas postings, including Bonn, Sudan, Lagos, Hong Kong, Pakistan, and Afghanistan, before becoming chief of the SE Division in 1985. After retirement in 1994, he became an author and often consults with Hollywood filmmakers, most notably Robert De Niro, on spy films. He is a recipient of the CIA’s Distinguished Intelligence Medal.


W. Lane Crocker (1943–2000)—Crocker was assistant director in charge of the FBI Washington Field Office (WFO) in the 1970s and 1980s. He coordinated the FBI-CIA joint KGB Squad activities with the CIA’s Haviland Smith and Jack Platt. He retired in 1996.


Robert Anthony De Niro (b. 1943)—The iconic New York–born actor is a seven-time Academy Award nominee (two-time winner), a six-time British Academy Film Award (BAFTA) nominee, and an eight-time Golden Globe Award nominee. In 2009, he was among the five recipients of the Kennedy Center Honors, presented by his friend President Barack Obama. He was given the Cecil B. DeMille Award in 2010. He also produced, directed, and co-starred in the film The Good Shepherd, a history of the early CIA. In the mid-1990s, while researching that project, he came to know and befriend Milt Bearden, Jack Platt, and Gennady Vasilenko.


John Denton (b. 1941)—aka “Mad Dog.” A New Jersey native, Denton joined the FBI in 1969 and was assigned to a crime division in North Carolina. In the late 1970s, he transferred to counterintelligence at the Washington Field Office, where he befriended Dion Rankin and Jack Platt. He retired in 1999, after a thirty-year career, and is an honorary “Musketeer.”


Ron Fino (b. 1946)—A former official of the mobbed-up Buffalo, New York, Laborers’ Union (Local 210), Fino is the son of a mafia boss. For years, he secretly worked as an undercover consultant for the FBI and the CIA, helping put scores of major mafia figures in prison. He became an importer of vodka and used his Russian contacts to try to free Gennady Vasilenko from Russian prisons.


Burton Gerber (b. 1933)—Gerber, a career CIA officer, was the SE Division chief from 1984 to 1989. Prior to that, he had been Chief of Station in Sofia, Belgrade, and Moscow, in addition to operational postings in Germany and Iran. He retired in 1995, after thirty-nine years of service.


Sandra “Sandy” Grimes (b. 1945)—Raised in Colorado, Grimes joined the CIA in 1967 with a degree in Russian. On her first day, she reported to the CIA’s ironically named Ames Building; she became a key “mole hunter” who helped catch turncoat Aldrich Ames. She was an analyst in the CIA’s Clandestine Service for twenty-six years.


Robert Hanssen (b. 1944)—An FBI agent assigned to Soviet and computer sections, Hanssen spied for the Soviets for twenty-two years of his twenty-six-year FBI career. His disclosures led to the executions of numerous CIA assets by the Soviets, including a number of Gennady’s friends. He is considered the most damaging spy in US history. One of the documents he transmitted to the Soviets led to Gennady’s first imprisonment in 1988. Hanssen is serving fifteen life sentences at ADX Florence, in Colorado, a “supermax” prison.


Edward Lee Howard (1951–2002)—After a short stint in the CIA, from 1981 to 1983, Howard was fired, and he subsequently sold out a number of the Agency’s Moscow assets to the KGB. One of those compromised, Adolf Tolkachev, was executed in 1986. Howard was a former student of Jack Platt in his Internal Operations Course (IOC), and he used what he had learned there to evade capture and escape to the Soviet Union in 1985.


Dan Moldea (b. 1950)—Investigative reporter and best-selling nonfiction author, Moldea was Jack Platt’s friend and played an important role in helping Gennady Vasilenko when he was wrongly imprisoned in Russia in 2005.


Leon Panetta (b. 1938)—Panetta has served in high office positions, including secretary of defense, White House chief of staff, and director of the Office of Management and Budget. In 2010, he was serving as President Obama’s CIA Director when he oversaw the spy swap that brought Gennady Vasilenko to the US permanently.


Ronald Pelton (b. 1941)—In 1979, after spending fourteen years at the National Security Agency (NSA), a financially strained Pelton sold out a number of technical spying operations, including Operation Ivy Bells, to the Soviet rezidentura, or station, in Washington, where he was handled by Gennady Vasilenko. KGB turncoat Vitaly Yurchenko outed him to the FBI in 1985. Although sentenced to three consecutive life sentences, he was released in 2015.


John “Jack” Cheney Platt III, aka Cowboy, aka Chris Llorenz, aka Charles Kneller (1936–2017)—A twenty-five-year veteran CIA case officer, Platt is best known for his tenure in the Agency’s SE Division and for his revamping of its Internal Operations Course (IOC). After his 1987 retirement, he volunteered to help the FBI identify the traitors who were destroying assets and twenty years’ worth of technical intelligence.


Molly Marr “Polly” Platt (1939–2011)—Jack Platt’s sister, Polly Platt was an esteemed Oscar-nominated motion picture production designer and executive. She designed such films as The Last Picture Show and Terms of Endearment, and produced Broadcast News and Say Anything. Polly Platt was the first woman inducted into the Art Directors Guild.


George Powstenko (1926–1990)—A Ukrainian-born radio engineer who immigrated to the US in 1949, Powstenko became a leader in the Washington, DC, Ukrainian community. As a manager of a championship amateur volleyball team, he became very close to Gennady Vasilenko, often serving as his “cutout” liaison to Jack Platt and Dion Rankin.


R. Dion Rankin, aka Tracker, aka Donald Williams (b. 1946)—Rankin was an FBI agent who specialized in interrogation, tracking, and polygraphy. Assigned to the WFO in 1976, he became a close friend of Jack Platt and Gennady Vasilenko. In the ’90s, he worked on the team that ultimately identified Robert Hanssen as an FBI traitor. He is the third “Musketeer.”


Paul Redmond (b. 1941)—Redmond served in the Clandestine Service of the CIA as an operations officer for thirty-three years, from 1965 to 1998, working in Europe, Eastern Europe, and East Asia. He became the Agency’s first associate deputy director for operations for Counterintelligence and supervised the team that identified CIA employee Aldrich Ames as a KGB spy.


Mike Rochford (b. 1955)—Rochford joined the FBI in 1979 after studying Russian at the Defense Language Institute in Monterey, California. When he was assigned to the WFO’s CI-4 Squad, he investigated Russian spies and played a key role in obtaining the KGB’s file on their prized asset Robert Hanssen.


Haviland Smith (b. 1929)—A twenty-five-year CIA veteran, “Hav” served as Chief of Station in posts that included Prague, Berlin, Langley, Beirut, and Tehran. He pioneered many countersurveillance techniques and other field tradecraft, and became chief of the counterintelligence staff, where he mentored Jack Platt in the late ’70s. Smith retired in 1980.


Michael J. Sulick (b. 1948)—Sulick joined the CIA in 1980, with postings in Eastern Europe, Asia, Latin America, Poland, and Russia. He served as Moscow Chief of Station from 1994 to 1996, chief of Central Eurasia Division from 1999 to 2002, and director of the National Clandestine Service (formerly called deputy director of operations), and he helped place Gennady on the 2010 spy-swap list, after which he retired.


Jeanne Ruth Vertefeuille (1932–2012)—Vertefeuille joined the CIA as a typist in 1954, then obtained postings in Ethiopia, Finland, and The Hague. She learned Russian and became an expert on Soviet spies. In October 1986, she was asked to lead the task force investigating the disappearances of the CIA’s Russian assets. Eight years later, she, along with Grimes and others, identified Aldrich Ames as a double agent.


Russians


Victor Cherkashin (b. 1932)—Cherkashin achieved the rank of colonel after four decades with the KGB’s Foreign Intelligence Service (now the SVR). Following postings in West Germany, India, Austria, and Lebanon, he became the counterintelligence chief at the rezidentura in Washington, DC, where he supervised, among others, Gennady Vasilenko. He retired from the KGB in 1995 in order to focus on his family and his international security consulting business, Alpha-Puma.


Mikhail Yefimovich Fradkov (b. 1950)—A politician and statesman, Fradkov was the prime minister of Russia from March 2004 to September 2007. He also was the head of the SVR from 2007 to 2016 and negotiated the 2010 spy swap with his CIA counterpart, Leon Panetta.


Vladimir Kryuchkov (1924–2007)—From 1974 until 1988, Kryuchkov headed the foreign intelligence branch of the KGB, the First Chief Directorate, which oversaw covert intelligence gathering. From 1988 until 1991, he served as chairman of the KGB and was the leader of the abortive August 1991 coup.


Sergei Lavrov (b. 1950)—Diplomat Lavrov was the Russian representative to the United Nations from 1994 to 2004. He is currently the foreign minister of Russia, in office since 2004. He negotiated a “reset” with the US that facilitated the spy swap in 2010.


Valery Martynov (1946?–1987)—In the early 1980s, Martynov was a Line X (scientific espionage) KGB agent based in Washington, DC, where he was a colleague of Gennady Vasilenko. He was flipped by the FBI in 1982 and given the code name PIMENTA, before he was betrayed by Hanssen and Ames in 1985 and executed by the USSR in 1987.


Sergei Motorin (1946?–1987)—In the 1980s, Motorin was a Line PR (military intelligence) KGB agent and, like Martynov, worked out of the Washington, DC, rezidentura, where he became a good friend of Gennady Vasilenko. He was flipped by the FBI’s CI-4 Squad in 1980 and given the code name MEGAS. Also, like Martynov, he was sold out by both Ames and Hanssen. He was executed in 1987.


Vladimir Piguzov (d. 1987)—Piguzov was a KGB agent and CIA asset code-named JOGGER, recruited in Indonesia in the 1970s. After he was reassigned to the KGB school in Moscow, he furnished the Agency with background intel on KGB trainees, including Gennady Vasilenko. Although it is widely believed that he was betrayed by Ames, Jack Platt contended that Edward Lee Howard had identified him to the Russians.


Dmitri Polyakov (1921–1988)—Polyakov was a member of the GRU (Soviet military intelligence). His FBI code name was TOP HAT. Handled by Sandy Grimes at the CIA, Polyakov provided the US with valuable military information for decades. He was betrayed by Ames and Hanssen, and executed in 1988.


Aleksandr Nikolayevich Poteyev (b. 1952)—Poteyev was an SVR officer assigned to Department S (coordinating foreign spies). In the 1990s, he was posted to New York, where he was recruited by the CIA. In 2001, he sold out Russia’s “Illegals,” their unregistered agents who had been living in the US under phony “legends” for many years. They were not arrested right away because US authorities wanted to keep an eye on them. Weeks before the Illegals were arrested in 2010, Poteyev disappeared in the US with his estimated $2 to $5 million bounty. According to one Russian news service, Poteyev passed away in July 2016 carrying out an assignment.


“Anatoly Stepanov” (b. circa 1948) (pseudonym)—KGB counterintelligence (LINE KR) officer who worked with Gennady both at the Yasenevo HQ and the DC rezidentura in the seventies. In the eighties, he obtained a high-ranking position in Department S (Illegals). Before leaving the KGB after the fall of the USSR, Stepanov made off with the KGB’s file on their prized US double agent (Robert Hanssen) and later sold it to the FBI for a reported $7 million. He lives in the US under a new identity.


Gennady “Genya” Semyovich Vasilenko, aka ILYA, joint CIA and FBI code names MONOLITE and later GT/GLAZING (b. 1941)—Vasilenko was a volleyball champion and KGB Line KR (counterintelligence) officer assigned to the DC rezidentura in the late 1970s. Twice arrested and imprisoned by the KGB/FSB, he was falsely accused of being a CIA asset. He was a close friend of Jack Platt.


Dmitri Yakushkin (1923–1994)—After attaining a degree in economic science, Yakushkin joined the KGB, rising to the rank of major general. In 1975, he was assigned to be rezident (similar to the CIA’s Chief of Station) at the Washington, DC, Soviet Embassy. That posting made him the most powerful KGB officer outside the Soviet Union. In Washington, he supervised the activities of hundreds of spies, such as Gennady Vasilenko, Sergei Motorin, Valery Martynov, and Anatoly Stepanov.


Vitaly Sergeyevich Yurchenko (b. 1936)—KGB officer Yurchenko was in charge of North America operations at the KGB’s Yasenevo headquarters, where he was a colleague of Gennady Vasilenko. After twenty-five years of service, he defected to the CIA in Rome. He was flown to Washington and debriefed, ironically, by Aldrich Ames. Some in the CIA believe he was actually a “dangle,” pretending to defect to the US; although he outed minor American turncoats Edward Lee Howard and Ronald Pelton as US traitors, he re-defected back to the USSR without giving up Russia’s most prized moles, Ames and Hanssen. Years later, he was awarded the Order of the Red Star by the Soviet government for the successful “infiltration operation.”


Aleksandr Zaporozhsky, possibly AVENGER (b. 1951)—Zaporozhsky was convicted in Russia of having been paid $1 million each by the FBI and the CIA in 1993 for the information that may have led to the arrest of Aldrich Ames. Gennady Vasilenko had known Zaporozhsky since the ’70s, when both worked in the Africa and Asia division at KGB headquarters in Yasenevo. Zaporozhsky was arrested by the KGB in 2001 and sentenced to eighteen years in prison. Released in the 2010 spy swap, he flew back to the US with Gennady. Today he lives in the eastern US.


Aleksandr “Sasha” Zhomov, aka PROLOGUE, aka PHANTOM (b. 1954)—Zhomov was a KGB officer in the Second Chief Directorate (internal counterintelligence) who offered to sell information to the CIA in Moscow in 1987. Over Grimes’s and Vertefeuille’s objections, the SE Division accepted Zhomov, who was, in fact, a “dangle,” sent to protect the USSR’s valuable assets Ames and Hanssen. Zhomov dropped his overture to the CIA in July 1990 after receiving a substantial payment from them. Obsessed with avenging the later losses of Ames and Hanssen, Zhomov became the KGB’s mole hunter, overseeing the arrests and torture of Gennady Vasilenko and Aleksandr Zaporozhsky.


Organizations


CIA (1947–present)—Established by the National Security Act of 1947, the Central Intelligence Agency is the United States’ civilian foreign intelligence service, obtaining information primarily through the use of human intelligence (HUMINT). The CIA, headquartered on 258 acres in the Langley community of McLean, Virginia, has no law enforcement function, and is mainly focused on overseas intelligence gathering with only limited domestic intelligence collection.


FBI (1908–present)—The Federal Bureau of Investigation is the United States’ domestic intelligence and security service, focused on counterterrorism, counterintelligence, and criminal investigation. It operates under the jurisdiction of the Department of Justice, reporting to both the attorney general and the director of National Intelligence. Primarily a domestic agency, the Bureau maintains fifty-six field offices in major cities throughout the United States and sixty legal attaché (LEGAT) offices in US embassies and consulates across the globe.


FSB (1995–present)—The Russian Federal Security Service (Federal’naya Sluzhba Bezopasnosti) is the principal security agency of Russia and the main successor agency to the USSR’s Committee of State Security (KGB). Analogous to the United States’ FBI, its main responsibilities are within Russia and include counterintelligence, internal and border security, counterterrorism, and surveillance, as well as crime and federal law violation investigation. It is housed in the KGB’s old headquarters building in Moscow’s Lubyanka Square (formerly Dzerzhinsky Square).


GRU (1810–present)—Formally known as the Main Intelligence Directorate, the GRU is the foreign military intelligence agency of the general staff of the armed forces of the Russian Federation. It is Russia’s largest foreign intelligence agency, deploying over six times as many agents in foreign countries as the SVR, the successor of the KGB’s foreign operations directorate (PGU KGB). It commands more than twenty-five thousand Spetsnaz troops.


KGB (1954–1991)—Headquartered in Moscow’s Lubyanka building, the KGB was a military organization. The Soviet Committee for State Security (Komitet Gosudarstvennoy Bezopasnosti) was the successor to the Cheka, OGPU, NKVD, etc. The KGB’s main functions were foreign intelligence, counterintelligence, and domestic operative-investigatory activities. After 1991, KGB operations were divided between the FSB (domestic) and the SVR (foreign).


MVD (1802–present)—Formally known as the Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Russian Federation, the MVD (Ministerstvo Vnutrennikh Del) is the interior ministry of Russia. It oversees police, traffic, drug control, and economic crime investigations. The ministry is headquartered in Moscow.


Spetsnaz (1950–present)—Translated as “special purpose,” Spetsnaz are elite tactical special-forces units controlled by the FSB, MVD, or GRU. They carry out anti-terrorist and anti-sabotage operations but are often deployed against Russian counterrevolutionaries, dissidents, and other undesirables. The idea for the units was envisioned decades earlier by military theorist Mikhail Svechnikov in order to overcome disadvantages faced by conventional forces in the field.


SVR (1991–present)—The Foreign Intelligence Service of the Russian Federation, the SVR (Sluzhba Vneshney Razvedki), is Russia’s external intelligence agency and the successor of the First Chief Directorate of the KGB. It is tasked with intelligence and espionage activities outside the Russian Federation and with negotiating anti-terrorist and intelligence-sharing arrangements with foreign intelligence agencies. The SVR consists of at least eight known directorates: PR (political intelligence); S (illegal overseas agents); X (scientific and technical intelligence); KR (external counterintelligence); OT (operational and technical support); R (operational planning and analysis); I (computer service—information and dissemination); and E (economic intelligence). Its headquarters is in the Yasenevo district of Moscow.
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APPRENTICE SPIES




Forced recruitment almost never works because you’ve got somebody against their will and they resent it.


—Jack “Cowboy” Platt, CIA case officer




August 27, 2005,* Great Falls, VA


Oh no, not again, Cowboy thought. Hanging up the phone, sixty-nine-year-old retired CIA case officer Jack “Cowboy” Platt recalled something F. Scott Fitzgerald had written about “the dark night of the soul,” and now he knew exactly what it meant. Sitting in his darkened den in Northern Virginia, Platt stared at a photo of himself together with the subject of the call, his Russian “younger brother” and former KGB man Gennady “Genya” Vasilenko. The framed memento had been taken during a recent Shenandoah Valley hunting trip. Better times, for sure. Tonight’s communication had changed everything and tempted Jack to drive to a location he hadn’t visited in twenty-five years: the ABC Liquor Store just down the road from CIA headquarters in McLean. The bottle had come closer to killing him than the Soviets ever did.


Platt looked at his left hand, mangled by a grenade that had malfunctioned during his stint in the Marines, and thought, Jesus Christ, Gennady was probably cursing me out as they tortured him. The thought was intolerable, because it was Jack’s fault. It was his scheme that had brought them to this. Tipped off by Gennady’s son on the phone call from Russia, Jack then read the sickening details on the Internet. His “best laid plan,” which had quietly succeeded in rolling up one of the United States’ most damaging traitors ever, had blown up in the worst way: Gennady, coincidentally known to his peers as “Russian Cowboy,” had been rounded up and imprisoned in Moscow for the second time. And it was Jack’s fault—again.


In a notorious Moscow hellhole of a prison, confused and terrified, sixty-three-year-old Gennady also recalled his hunting trips with Cowboy. Two days earlier, on the first day of hunting season in the woods surrounding Moscow, he had been at his rural dacha with his mother; his girlfriend, Masha; and their young children, his second family. As the country celebrated its annual Moscow Days, Gennady was in the front yard “playing with the kids” when he caught sight of ten or so black-clad Spetsnaz encircling his property. I am about to become the first victim of hunting season, Gennady thought. As he reached out to shake hands with the sheriff, an acquaintance, the commandos pounced, beating the pulp out of him and breaking his knee in front of his hysterical mother, girlfriend, and children. “If you step one inch in any direction, we’ll shoot you in front of them,” one guard snarled. Then they hauled him off to hell.


Hell for Gennady came in many waves. First he was taken to the local police station, where he was told that illegal explosives had been found at his apartment. All the residences of his immediate family had been ransacked. The troops had “found” more explosives in Gennady’s homes and cars. In fact, the evidence had been planted to frame up the arrest. They even had been secretly coating his car with invisible explosive particles so he would have residue on his fingers. For the icing on the cake, the FSB had planted World War II–era explosives in Gennady’s garage so they could charge him with terrorism.


Finding him at the police station, his oldest son, thirty-five-year-old Ilya, brought him a change of clothes from home, but the only jacket Gennady had at the dacha was the one Cowboy’s FBI friend Dion Rankin had given him years before, the blue one emblazoned with FBI ACADEMY. Just perfect, thought Gennady. They already think I’m with the Americans. He was so anxious to take off his bloodstained T-shirt that he put the FBI sweatshirt on anyway. “Fuck ’em,” he said, uttering Cowboy’s favorite curse, which Gennady had appropriated years earlier.


When FSB thugs came into the room to soften him up with continued beatings, Gennady knew this was not about old gunpowder or boxes of hunting bullets. It was about vengeance. Concussed, he began vomiting and bleeding on his FBI sweatshirt. Drifting in and out of consciousness, lying in a pool of his own blood, he realized that today was his daughter Julia’s birthday.


Assuming their captive was now sufficiently pliable to an admission, the goons got around to the real reason for the brutality: they wanted Gennady to confess to helping the US ferret out an American traitor four years earlier—perhaps the Russians’ most valuable double agent ever. The Russian bureaucracy was in damage-control mode since the asset’s exposure, and they couldn’t just allow those who they thought facilitated the hard-won spy’s arrest to get away unscathed. They had to send a message, and Gennady was that message.


The beatings and mental torture were unending. Throughout it, the police, and later the FSB, had one question: “How did your American boyfriend turn you into a traitor?” And the answer was always the same.


“Yebat’ sebya! Ya ne predatel’!” yelled Gennady. Go fuck yourself! I’m not a traitor!


March 1979, Washington, DC




When you’re up to your ass in alligators, it’s very difficult to remember that the initial objective was to drain the swamp.


—A sign on Cowboy Jack Platt’s desk at CIA headquarters




Jack remembered racing down Washington’s Capital Beltway in an alcoholic fury to meet the “target” for the first time at a Harlem Globetrotters game, having likely already pounded down his typical twelve to fourteen beers for the day. Appropriate, he figured, because this possible recruit he was going to meet was a hard-partying Russian and the best lead the CIA’s domestic station had had in a while.


Thirty-seven-year-old Gennady Vasilenko was the new KGB man in town, the son-in-law of one of the godfathers of the Soviet hydrogen bomb, Vladimir Goncharov, and the game these days was all about nuclear war: preventing it in the best case, starting it first if need be, and finding ways to survive it. Both sides believed it was going to happen, too, to the point where Soviet agents were assigned to drive around Washington at night to see if and when an inordinate number of lights appeared to be on in the White House and the Pentagon, in theory betraying an uptick in activity and perhaps indicating an imminent attack. Jack’s mission—his actual job description at the CIA—was to “turn” Soviet agents stationed in the US, to get them to betray their country by giving the Americans military and political intelligence, especially as it related to nuclear secrets. Jack had been at this assignment for about a year and hadn’t flipped anybody.


“In almost sixty-five percent of the cases, the prime motivation [to turn] was revenge,” Jack would reflect in retirement. His conclusion was drawn from a study of fifty traitors he had undertaken for the Agency. “Revenge for a true wrong or a perception in his or her head that something terrible had been done to him or her by that system and ‘I’ll make ’em pay.’” Other methods, of course, included the tried-and-true blackmail over a target’s weaknesses, the big three being sex, gambling, and booze. However, in the thirty years of the CIA’s existence, the Americans had almost no success in turning KGB agents in Washington, despite having much to offer. The Soviets met with similar frustration. Former KGB agent Yuri Shvets estimated that for every two thousand approaches, only one was successful.


“Failure is the norm,” Jack said, and what he lacked in number of recruits, he made up for in quality throughout his career. “Not one of the people I recruited ever got caught.” Jack never resorted to the blackmail technique; it wasn’t his style. “Forced recruitment almost never works, because you’ve got someone against their will, and they resent it. You have to re-recruit them every time. Besides, with a forced recruitment, there’s a damned good chance that the target just goes back to his boss and tells him what happened.” (Nonetheless, Jack and his CIA recruitment team had already created a generic list of vulnerabilities using the acronym MECMAFO: Money hungry, Ego, Criminal acts, Midlife crisis, Addiction, Family trouble, and Outcast loners.)


The few notorious blackmail operations that actually succeeded got blown out of proportion in spy folklore, Jack explained. “Everybody knows the story of the British foreign service officer who liked little boys,” referring to the trope that most spying is rooted in blackmail. “Okay, fine. That’s one case when the KGB got somebody that way, but everybody goes back to that one case! It’s not the norm.” Jack added that violent persuasions to turn a source are equally fanciful. “In twenty-six years in the CIA I never carried a gun.”


A native of San Antonio, Texas, John “Jack” Cheney Platt III was born on February 18, 1936, at Nix Hospital. Jack inherited not only his family’s devotion to military service but also their gene for alcoholism, experiencing frequent blackouts until a successful rehab stint in his forties. “My grandfather was an alcoholic, my father was an alcoholic, his brother, and my mother had three nervous breakdowns,” Jack recalled. “They had cocktails every night before dinner. My sister, Polly, and I snuck sips in the kitchen when we were kids. She died an alcoholic. I didn’t stand a chance. I was a beer-aholic. A twelve-pack a day guy, minimum.”
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Jack’s only sibling, younger sister (by three years) Mary Marr “Polly” Platt, grew up to be an Oscar-nominated art director and production executive. Married for a time to director Peter Bogdanovich, she also became the first woman inducted into the Art Directors Guild.* Despite their divergent politics—Jack a growling Texas conservative and Polly a show-business liberal—the siblings adored each other and were best friends. Their relationship was reminiscent of that between To Kill a Mockingbird’s tomboy, Scout, and her brother, Jem, each child protecting the other from neighborhood predators. In her unpublished memoir, Polly recalled smashing a local boy in the shins with a shovel when he caught Jack off guard in a street scuffle. Even as aging parents and grandparents, they were known to reenact creative renditions of their childhood, making spectacles of themselves. Jack’s daughter Leigh tells how they would go to restaurants and start whining like small children, banging utensils: “Weeeeee’re huuunnngrryyyyy!”


The sibling bond had a darker side as well. Polly’s and Jack’s children all recall watching in horror as the two got rip-roaring, falling-down drunk together in Paris. “They fell into a hedge of rose bushes and came out bleeding profusely,” remembers Polly’s daughter Antonia Bogdanovich. “The bloody mess only made them laugh harder.”


Their parents were New Yorker John Cheney Platt II, a career army officer, and Vivian Hildreth Marr, of Newburyport, Massachusetts. During World War I, Platt Sr. left his undergraduate studies at MIT, where he had been a champion boxer and a brilliant student, to enlist in the army. Early in his military stint, Platt Sr. was dispatched to Mexico, where he engaged José Doroteo Arango Arámbula, aka Pancho Villa. For the next three decades, Colonel Platt and his family were posted to places like New Jersey, California, Illinois, and Texas as Platt gained a reputation as a noted court-martial judge. After World War II, Platt was sent to Bremerhaven, Germany, during the occupation, where he was in charge of two thousand German POWs, many from Erwin Rommel’s Afrika Korps. He returned to Germany for another tour from 1949 to 1951, during which he was a judge in the Dachau trials. He was also a judge in the famous Hesse crown jewels heist, in which a US colonel stole items valued at $2.5 million ($30 million today).


Young Jack was well aware of his father’s service and what, to Jack, was a noble battle for justice against a monstrous enemy. Sometimes there really were battles between good and evil, and there was no doubt in Jack’s mind that his father’s—and the United States’—work to bring down tyranny was such a battle.


“I actually believed what President Kennedy meant when he said ‘Ask not what your country can do for you,’” Jack explained, adding that his early experiences overseas also had a profound effect. “I’m a proud, unreconstructed patriot who knows it’s a privilege to be an American citizen.”


Vivian Platt suffered from acute mental illness for much of her life and spent serious time in mental health institutions, having the first of her nervous breakdowns when the family was stationed in Germany. “Polly judged her mother harshly and blamed her for being weak,” according to an article in Premiere. “I realize now,” Polly told the magazine, “that perhaps my mother had not fulfilled her own promise, her own gifts—and she was living in a world where that was not even considered.” Still, Polly described life with her mother as excruciating; the Platt children never knew when their mother would erupt and begin torturing their father over some triviality, such as the way he carved roast beef. Even worse, according to Polly’s daughter Sashy Bogdanovich, Vivian once willfully drove off a bridge—with young Polly in the car. Not only a likely suicide attempt but also one without regard for her child. The children of alcoholics and wildly unstable parents are known for seeking to control all possible variables in a world they come to see as capricious and treacherous. With Platt Sr., who died of cirrhosis and emphysema, and Vivian, who experienced a grotesque death of alcoholism, Jack and Polly got a double dose and managed the aftershocks for the rest of their lives.


Polly had vivid memories of postwar Germany, a place filled with the smoldering ruins of conflict. Their father took young Jack and Polly on a tour of the Dachau concentration camp “so we’d never forget what happened there,” Jack said. Seeing such landscapes, Polly said, “I started fantasizing that I had these incredible powers, that I could rebuild all the broken buildings.” Both Jack and Polly, in their future careers, would be known as caring, team players. “There’s a tradition in the Platt family for bringing home the wounded,” Jack said. Platt Sr. lived long enough to see Neil Armstrong’s shoes find their rightful American footing on the moon in 1969—an expressed goal—and died soon afterward in Polly’s guest house in California, she having made good on a promise to never put him in an assisted-living facility.


In the early 1950s, the Platt family relocated to Hingham, Massachusetts, where Jack’s father, by now known as a gifted man with a drinking problem, worked for the city of Boston as a consultant on the civil defense staff, making contingency plans for dealing with fallout from a first-strike nuclear attack. Jack went to Phillips Academy in Andover in 1953 and, from there, to Williams College (in Williamstown) on a full scholarship, the alma mater of a number of CIA vets, later including Director Richard Helms. In the ’50s and ’60s, Williams was still an all-male “Little Ivy” school, consistently ranked among the top five colleges in the country. Ninety percent of the students were pledged to a fraternity, a system that was abolished in the late ’60s. The drinking age in Massachusetts was twenty-one, so weekend road trips across the nearby state lines into New York and Vermont, where eighteen was the rule, were a regularity, and Jack was often the wheelman. When beer wasn’t the quest, girls were, with Jack leading “panty raids” on Bennington and Sarah Lawrence colleges.
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Jack in his 1958 Williams College yearbook.


(Courtesy Carl Vogt)








Simultaneously, Jack began to inhabit his cowboy persona. He was a student who, according to one friend, “could drink more than any of us.” Classmate David Grossman described the school as having 250 students in each grade, but Jack stood out. He majored in history, with an emphasis on Russian studies, and consistently made the dean’s list. “I didn’t even know him, but I knew of him,” Grossman says. “Jack was known as a hot ticket, a rough rider, and a tough guy. But at the same time, everybody seemed to like him.” Classmate Joe Albright refers to him as “the wild one at school.” Albright remembers one typical “Jack story”: during a pledge-week party, an inebriated Jack Platt drove his motorcycle into his frat house, the infamous Phi Gamma Delta, up the stairs to the second floor, most assuredly to grab another six-pack. Classmates began referring to the boot-wearing San Antonio native as “Cowboy.”


Phi Gamma Delta’s president and Jack’s lifelong friend Carl Vogt (who later became Williams’s president) remembers Jack as being the anonymous architect behind some of the greatest pranks in Williams’s history, covert ops that presaged his career as the CIA’s master of surveillance avoidance—only Carl and one other friend ever knew who had pulled off the stunts. At the time, students were allowed only three unexcused class absences, and the school maintained the precious “cut list” in a binder kept in a secure room in the Hopkins Hall administration building. According to Carl, Jack obtained the blueprints for the underground steam pipe system that ran between all the campus buildings, and late one night, he managed to squeeze into the pipeline and traverse it into Hopkins Hall, where he made off with the cut list for all one thousand undergrads. Jack then drove the binder to his favorite New York bar, where he burned the pages in the parking lot.


Then there was the time when the iconic First Congregational Church in the center of town had its seven-story steeple vandalized. A mysterious person (Jack Platt) had climbed up to the large clock on the steeple and removed all the large gold numerals except for the randy 6 and 9. Or the time when a vintage 1925 fire truck in Bennington was pushed down Route 7 from behind by someone’s car (Jack’s) all the way to the Phi Gamma Delta frat house thirteen miles away. The FBI, called in due to the interstate nature of the crime, was not amused. Jack, then a junior, was fined thirty-five dollars by local authorities. It was one of the only bits of mischief in which Jack was identified.


Although Jack possessed an impish sense of humor, he was so laid-back that he attained the nickname “The Rock.” He was also known as the smartest guy in the class; he took meticulous—and illustrated—notes, which he lent out to his lucky pals. He was generous not only with his notes but also with his compassion: as pledge chairman, he supported Carl’s move to open the pledging to black students.


While at Williams, Jack studied with Robert G. Waite, a pioneering teacher who had a great influence on Jack and his classmates. Waite, a psycho-historian specializing in Adolf Hitler, caused intense controversy with his The Psychopathic God: Adolf Hitler (1977) because he attempted to suspend his moral judgment whenever possible, even if the topic demanded otherwise. Later in life, Jack applied Waite’s method when working with spies from the hated Red Menace, the USSR. He already knew he would enter the Marines after graduation, having spent two summers in the Platoon Leaders Class (PLC) cadet program, where he consistently ranked number one among his forty-four fellow cadets.


Jack missed his 1958 Williams graduation ceremony because he got into a serious car accident while chauffeuring three fraternity brothers on a road trip to Saratoga Springs, New York. He was most likely visiting his sister Polly, a student at Skidmore College who regularly arranged dates for his friends. To avoid an oncoming car, Jack swerved and hit a tree on Route 9. Three of the four men were hospitalized, Jack included. The car was totaled.


In June 1959, Cowboy married Paige Gordon, a cousin of a cousin, whom he met at a party at about the same time he received a commission as a second lieutenant in the United States Marine Corps. “I thought he was okay,” Paige says with characteristic wryness, but she really started liking Cowboy when she saw how others in their circle responded to his impish sense of humor. Today, slender with short dark hair, Paige looks much younger than a woman in her late seventies. She conveys precisely where she stands with either a clear expression or an economy of words that complemented Cowboy’s rowdiness. From a young age, the Platt girls referred to their parents as “Lady and the Tramp.” Paige was raised by her mother and stepfather in Armonk, New York, on a farm that her family eventually sold to IBM to build its headquarters. Her biological father, Arthur Gordon, was an author and ghostwriter for the legendary motivational figure Norman Vincent Peale. Her mother was very kind when she wasn’t drinking, Paige remembers, but died of alcoholism—a fate that would later prove to be pivotal in how Paige managed her life with her husband.
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Jack was assigned to the Marine corps base at Camp Lejeune, North Carolina, as an intelligence officer in 3rd Battalion, Kilo Company. According to Jack’s lifelong friend Major General Matt “Matty” Caulfield, this was an amphibious task force that often conducted exercises in the Mediterranean Sea. Jack’s key responsibility was prepping and commanding a beachhead assault team. His meticulous field reports saw him promoted in early 1962 to recon leader of Alpha Company, 2nd Recon Battalion. “Jack and I hit it off instantly,” says Caulfield. “I never met a man like him before. He was terrific in the field, never got lost. Jack had a great relationship with the troops. They took to him in a way I’ve never seen before.” Once during cold-weather training in Pisgah National Forest in North Carolina, Jack rescued an entire company from a blizzard. A quarter of them got frostbite, but they all survived. Caulfield says Jack should have gotten an award for this rescue.


At Camp Lejeune in 1961, three years into Jack’s four-year career in the Marines, a flare grenade exploded in his hand, costing Jack his left middle finger to the first knuckle (later, as a spy, he often wore one black glove to hide this obvious identifying characteristic from the enemy, a habit that conjures up images of Peter Sellers’s Dr. Strangelove, a fictional player in the nuclear game). Caulfield adds some color to the incident, explaining that Jack was such a committed instructor he kept his own unused inflammatory devices for improvisational use during training. These “pyros” he felt were necessary to train his students properly. He had ripped them off and kept them in a hidden locker, buried somewhere unknown to anybody else. A flare grenade went off accidentally one day when he was retrieving his stash. Early in their relationship, Jack told Gennady that he got the injury in a showdown with Carlos the Jackal. Gennady didn’t believe him and could tell that Jack didn’t believe it either when it came out of his own mouth.


In October 1962, one year after Jack’s first child, daughter Leigh, was born, the Cuban missile crisis almost incinerated everything Jack held dear. During the nuclear brinksmanship, Jack was a first lieutenant in a Marine reconnaissance battalion off the Cuban coast, ready to scream ashore if and when President Kennedy gave the order. His job was to provide the broader US military with the intelligence needed to pulverize the Cuban—or Russian—military into submission five thousand yards from the beach inland. He fully expected he would be engaged in combat in Cuba when the missiles started flying.


Before he embarked from Camp Lejeune for Cuban waters, young Jack had told Paige that nuclear war was a strong likelihood. He added that, given what he knew about nuclear war, it wasn’t worth worrying about too much because it would be over faster than the human mind could process. The war he would face in Cuba, however, was a different story. That would be a conventional engagement, and those could be long and bloody.


Caulfield had a different take on what would have happened in a shooting war based on what he later learned. He says Jack’s battalion was excited about the possibility of a firefight on Cuban shores. What they didn’t know was that there were twenty thousand Soviet soldiers and tactical nukes on the island. Jack’s platoon would have been annihilated.


While they were training for the big Cuban engagement on Vieques Island, Jack defied orders and surreptitiously made off with better weapons than those he had been ordered to take. Jack and Caulfield were recalled to Camp Lejeune for disciplinary action just as everybody else was heading south during the missile crisis. However, once the general was given the full picture, he chewed out the officer who had moronically ordered them to use inferior weapons in the first place. Jack and Caulfield turned around and headed south to Florida just as the crisis receded.


After the Cuban missile crisis, Jack returned to Camp Lejeune, and to Paige and baby Leigh, to decompress and contemplate his post-Marines career. He soon had a life-changing conversation with his favorite uncle, Dick Platt Jr., also a former Marine, as well as a member of Yale’s Skull and Bones, a secret society known for its links to the American intelligence community. During a Christmas 1962 exchange, Dick mentioned that because of the empathy Jack demonstrated for his Marine trainees, he might not be capable of invoking the extreme discipline needed in the field and therefore would likely not see advancements in a military career. Dick Platt then suggested a relatively new organization, the Central Intelligence Agency, where Jack might thrive, especially with his having lived overseas and his language skills: German and, to lesser degree, Russian. At the time, Jack wasn’t quite sure what the CIA was. Nevertheless, in 1964, Jack applied and was accepted as a case officer recruit at the CIA.
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ALL ROADS LEAD TO WASHINGTON




Have you ever killed anybody?




After completing his operational training at the secret “Farm” facility, located near Williamsburg, Virginia, Jack spent two years at the CIA’s new Langley headquarters, a period that proved instrumental to his great successes down the road. This was due in large part to his being assigned to work with the man who taught him the real tricks of the trade, counterintelligence whiz Haviland Smith, who was referred to as “an illusionist” because he consulted magicians in order to learn about deception and misdirection. Smith soon gained Jack’s friendship and, more importantly, his respect. In addition to being an expert in field surveillance detection and deception, Smith had the confidence of the suits in the Agency’s seventh-floor executive suites. “He knew where all the bodies were buried,” Jack recalled.


A Russian studies graduate of the University of London and former Chief of Station (COS) in Prague, Hav Smith achieved legendary status among US spies for his innovative methods of combating the enemies’ aggressive surveillance, especially behind the Iron Curtain. In Prague, where Smith’s field officers were subject to crushing, lockstep scrutiny, the COS was forced to become inventive in order to carry out the mission. Thus were born techniques such as “moving through the gap,” the “brush pass,” and the “moving car delivery.”


A field officer learned to create a momentary gap in surveillance by lulling the enemy into complacency with a repeated pattern of mundane errands done day after day at precise times (going for a coffee, getting a haircut, returning the babysitter, etc.). When the opponent relaxed for a few seconds, certain that the CIA officer was just getting his daily newspaper, a gap in surveillance might be created. And only a few seconds were needed in order to progress to the next Smith contrivance, the brush pass, wherein the officer walks past his asset and, without acknowledging him in any way, makes the handoff. A gap could likewise be created between two cars as the first car turned a corner, with brake lights disabled, allowing the driver to make an exchange or a dead drop through a window before the trailing car made the same turn and spotted it.


These and other breakthroughs were embraced by Cowboy Jack, and he added to them his Marine-inspired toughness, eventually passing the lessons on to the next generation of CIA officers, the rookies who would be inserted behind the Iron Curtain.


It wasn’t easy, though. Both Hav’s and Jack’s unorthodox new techniques were constantly met with disapproval from the suits above, who were risk averse in the extreme. Between the Agency bureaucracy and Cowboy, a man who had no interest in careerism and only sought to complete a mission, a tension grew, which only increased over the course of his career. Caulfield says, “The big problem Jack had was with phonies.” It didn’t help that Jack broke the Agency’s dress code on a daily basis with his uniform of a Stetson hat, Lucchese “shit-kicker” boots, tattered blue jeans, and L.L.Bean hunting vest. The nickname “Cowboy,” Paige explains, described more than her husband’s attire and “wasn’t meant as a compliment” coming from his CIA compatriots. The feeling was mutual: “Neckties cut off blood flow to the brain,” Cowboy was fond of saying. “That explains the mentality on the seventh floor.” Even without Cowboy Jack’s sartorial choices, his purposeful gait through Langley’s hallways made him stand out. “Jack moved at warp speed,” one colleague recalls. “I think it was an upshot of his years evading surveillance in the field. I always used to ask him, ‘Where the fuck are you racing to?’ He’d just smile as he disappeared down the hall.”


Jack’s locker-room language, peppered with his favorite four-letter word, the “f-bomb,” only added to the friction. CIA officer Burton Gerber, who would later become Jack’s boss in the SE (Soviet/East Europe) Division, recalls how he and Jack had to have heart-to-hearts about Jack’s foul language: “I tried to encourage him to tone it down, but Jack never seemed to take the input. He wasn’t confrontational; he just was unaware of how he spoke.” Fellow SE officer Jack Lee explains that “Jack alone was given a lot of slack because he was so good.”


As to just what set Jack apart skill-wise, his oldest daughter, Leigh, describes it this way: “His whole demeanor is that of a person relaxed and without a care in the world. This face of tranquility and mellowness is deceptive. He doesn’t miss a thing.” Fellow officer Brant Bassett says succinctly, “Cowboy embodied the best of what we were—total dedication to the mission, a hard worker who only cared about helping his country. He was the opposite of the careerists he had to answer to. And a genuine iconoclast.” Jack’s confidant John “Mad Dog” Denton of the FBI says, “When things got crazy, Jack got calm.”


Claiming that one is motivated by patriotism and not career advancement is a familiar refrain, but Jack made his aversion to bureaucratic upward mobility into high art. “You’re either a headquarters asshole or a street guy like me,” Jack told newsman Dan Rather years later. For Jack, it was all about being posted to wherever the threat to the American “fragile experiment” seemed most acute.


As Leigh wrote, “For my father, [headquarters] was akin to an assignment in ‘hell.’ CIA headquarters was a stuffy, bureaucratic place filled with power struggles, political turmoil, and overall poor judgment.” Jack often described CIA chiefs as having an old OSS “parachute mentality,” meaning that if someone could parachute into Europe during the war, they were considered qualified to work at the CIA. “For the next year, he worked at Langley and kept his eyes and ears tuned for other assignments.”


In 1965, relief from the cubicle tedium came in the form of a coveted posting in Vienna, Austria. The Platt family now numbered five, with twin daughters Michelle and Diana born the previous year. “Paige knew what I did,” Jack readily admitted. “It’s up to each overseas case officer whether to tell his wife. In fact, Paige became my reports officer.” Reports officers edited CIA operatives’ memoranda and sent them back to headquarters for review. “She also helped when it came to entertaining. At a party, I’d say, ‘That’s the target. Put on your best bra.’ She gave me a .357 Smith & Wesson Magnum for my thirtieth birthday. I also have a Marlin 336 and a .30-30 Winchester, model 1854. But Gennady was much more proficient with guns than me.”


Paige describes attending an endless procession of “smile parties” in Austria where everyone drank and the wives just smiled until their faces hurt. Wives often served as their husbands’ eyes and ears. “Everybody drank too much,” Paige says, admitting she was not a good drinker and was mindful of her mother’s all-consuming alcoholism.


On returning to the US a few years later, the Platts bought a two-story red brick house on Myer Terrace in Rockville, Maryland, but it was to be mostly rented out, as Jack would continue to solicit and accept overseas postings—anything to get away from headquarters. He hoped he wouldn’t be posted to the hot spot, Vietnam, where he wouldn’t be allowed to take his family. That wouldn’t work for Jack—he knew how many Agency families had been fractured by the absence of fathers.


Through the intercession of friends in the CIA hierarchy, Jack was assigned to the Laos operations desk, where he worked to save the lives and families of Laotian assets/friends and see them resettled in the USA—this in preparation for Jack’s being posted in the Asian country. He enrolled in the Agency’s language school, where he studied French for the better part of a year in advance of joining the Soviet operations team at the station in Vientiane, Laos, family in tow. The country had been a French protectorate for the first half of the twentieth century, and although rural areas still spoke Lao, a good number of the citizens in the capital of Vientiane spoke French.


In Laos, from 1972 to 1974, Jack coordinated closely with a cabal of “Black Thai” Laotian spies known as the Kangaroos, whose job it was to keep the CIA apprised of the visits of foreigners, especially Russians. Jack also frequented a popular local bar called The Purple Porpoise, which was owned by a lovable magician named Montague “Monty” Banks. The bar was an Asian version of Rick’s Café Américain from the movie Casablanca, rife with spies and conmen from a dozen countries. While Monty regaled Jack’s kids with card tricks, their dad was off in a corner plying a Kangaroo asset. The kids were engulfed in the spook world, and when popular movie prints arrived at the US commissary, Jack brought home his favorites. Leigh especially remembers watching the James Bond thriller Live and Let Die when Jack brought it home for her birthday. “I believe we watched it at least twenty times in three days,” Leigh recalls. Similar movies were brought into the home at least once a month during their time in Vientiane.*


Entertainment got even more real for Leigh, whom Jack used as cover while he took photos of Chinese Communist operatives enveloping the country. He routinely claimed that he was just an American dad on vacation with his young daughter. The ruse worked until Laos was falling to the Communists and a Chinese military officer confiscated his camera.


When the Platts’ tour was up, Jack became so concerned that all the accumulated furnishings would fall into enemy hands on the day they left that he staged a robbery of his own house. He alerted his many Laotian friends that the night before his departure he would be out for a few hours with the family, so they were welcome to help themselves to everything except their luggage. He asked only that they share the spoils with their poorest neighbors. Dozens of Laotians saw the family off the next day.


By far the most important takeaway from the Laos years was the added tradecraft tutelage by his coworkers Brian O’Connor and George Kenning Jr. These men, like Hav Smith, had developed successful field detection and evasion techniques that became part of Jack’s own arsenal.


Laos was also a critical juncture in the Platts’ marriage, because it was in that political and climatological cauldron that Paige realized Jack had a serious drinking problem. “Alcoholism is insidious, slow in coming,” Paige says, haunted as she recalls military pilots drinking and then flying at Camp Lejeune. “Alcohol flowed like water wherever we were stationed.” The “goodbye parties” for intelligence personnel in Laos would literally last three or four days, Paige remembers, and it got more intense as Laos and Vietnam collapsed politically. Given her mother’s fate, she held out little hope that any alcoholic had the capacity to abandon the bottle. She knew she was headed for a showdown with Jack, but there were serious challenges to consider: Children. Finances. Getting a lawyer. These were the days before communication between spouses vaulted into the zeitgeist as a cure-all. Besides, Jack was a spy. Communicate? No, spies kept their mouths shut.


Before Jack’s two-year Laotian stint wound down, he had complained to his family about a likely, dreaded recall to hell—i.e., Langley—but out of the blue, he learned of a vacant Agency position in Paris. He grabbed it before anyone else had a chance. By coincidence, his friends and colleagues from Laos, O’Connor and Kenning, also transferred to the City of Light. So the stage was set for a good experience all around.


The entire Platt family was excited about the Paris relocation—finally a Western country with good schools for the girls. Their Rockville home again would be occupied more regularly by strangers than by the actual mortgage holders. One drawback to the new posting was that the Platts, accustomed to 100-degree Laotian living, were virtually “freezing” all day long for the first few months in France. The advantage for Jack was to be working with some of the finer senior case officers in the CIA.


A Paris assignment that was especially close to Jack’s heart was the continued liaison with Kenning and O’Connor in efforts to save their Laotian assets, many of whom had become like family. Working with fellow Paris Station officer Larry Riddick, Jack accelerated the paperwork that allowed hundreds of Laotians to resettle in the US, and he maintained contact with many of them for the rest of his life.


Jack quickly gained a reputation as the Paris Station prankster; often at formal embassy receptions he executed hyperbolic pratfalls (“Plattfalls”) just to see the honor guards’ reactions. His serious Paris Station responsibilities included assisting in the training and preparation of a Russian scientist (working for the US) to return to Moscow. He also dealt with forty-two leaked CIA names, published by the French newspaper Libération in 1976 as CIA officers working under cover of the US Embassy in Paris. Jack was one of them. Disgruntled CIA officer Philip Agee had orchestrated the treason, and Jack wanted badly to get his hands on him.


Within days of the Libération disclosure, French classmates asked Leigh if her dad was CIA. She had always thought he was employed by the “economics section” of the State Department, assigned to various embassies. She assumed he kept getting transferred because of his coarse language or, worse, that he was some kind of criminal. Did they move around so much because he was afraid of getting nicked on an unsavory scheme? Leigh thought this way because she had been in the midst of devouring the Hardy Boys and Nancy Drew mystery books. Her curiosity had also been piqued when her parents forbade her to go on a school trip to the Soviet Union though they had let her go on an earlier trip to Spain.


After overhearing her parents discuss their tapped phones during the Libération scandal, Leigh demanded the truth. Jack admitted he was with the CIA, actually saying, “I’m a spy.” He conceded that he hadn’t let her go on the trip to the Soviet Union for fear that the KGB might learn of her identity, kidnap her, and hold her as a pawn. The high schooler was both thrilled (“Totally cool!”) and relieved, telling her dad, regarding their constant relocations, “I thought it was because you couldn’t keep a job.”


Weeks after their initial showdown, Leigh approached her father again and asked him a question that had been plaguing her: “Have you ever killed anybody?”


After a beat, Jack answered, “I never pulled the trigger.”


Michelle Platt remembers finding out about her father’s career a little differently. One day, while Aunt Polly (“Hollywood Polly”) was visiting them in Paris, Polly let loose about Jack’s being a spy. Michelle was stunned. She had been under the impression that her father was a Foreign Service officer, which made sense because the family was always moving around the world. “It’s impossible to keep secrets in a family forever,” Michelle says. Jack was not pleased about sister Polly’s loose lips and told her so. “Not everybody wants their name in lights!”


Diana knew something was different about her father and his friends when she was instructed on how to interact with her “uncles” should she run into them publicly. Jack told her, “If you see Uncle Larry in public, you walk up to him like you don’t know him and ask him what time it is. If he gives you a big hug, acknowledge him and hug him back. If he just tells you the time like he doesn’t know you, scram.”


Paige briefly worked for the CIA, but Agency work was not a great gig for women in the Cold War era. Nevertheless, she helped Jack in some of his exercises. “My mom always worked,” Michelle says. Paige had taught English as a second language in Laos and worked for a temp agency, Forbes magazine, and a computer company. Even when he encountered Paige’s colleagues, Jack kept his cover by using the name Mr. Gordon, taking Paige’s maiden name. Paige had the business sense in the marriage, recalls Michelle, acknowledging, “My father was not a great businessman.”


Despite many warm family memories of globetrotting and ski trips in Austria, the Platts weren’t exactly the Brady Bunch. “We were latchkey kids,” Michelle says. Marital tension brewed beneath the surface, as Paige was tiring of Jack’s alcoholism and was perpetually contemplating leaving him, which partly explained her self-reliance.


In the Platt family dynamic, Paige was the disciplinarian, Jack the troublemaker—despite Paige’s futile efforts to exploit her husband’s fabled Marine fearsomeness. Leigh recalls her mother being annoyed with her when she was young and admonishing, “Wait until your father gets home.” When Jack got home, he would sternly agree that he would deal with the delinquent Leigh. He would then proceed to take her into the bathroom and tickle her until tears gushed from her eyes. Once he was satisfied that her tears were sufficient, he would tell Leigh to go and tell her mother that she was crying because of how strict he had been with her. Eventually, Jack’s un-scariness on the domestic front became common knowledge to the Platt girls’ friends. “Everybody wanted our dad to be their dad,” says Diana. One of Jack’s future business partners said, “Paige’s eyes must ache from all the rolling.”


Jack’s battle with the bottle may have created personal turmoil, but none of his colleagues would say it affected his work. In fact, by this point, he had received a number of Agency performance citations for his success in the field. When asked to explain the accolades, he said, “When I was overseas I had a successful recruiting in every posting.”


A critical assignment for him came in 1975 when he toured CIA stations around the world with one of the USSR’s most damaging defectors, ex-KGB officer Yuri Nosenko. It was Nosenko who had informed the Warren Commission that, among other things, while the Soviets were aware of presidential assassin Lee Harvey Oswald, they thought he was a kook and would never have mobilized him to take violent action against a US president. Jack’s mission was to facilitate Nosenko’s secret briefings of CIA officers of critical intelligence, including how the KGB had infiltrated US embassies and bugged the embassy in Moscow. Jack was proud to have such an important asset in his care. He also took note of how Nosenko’s instinctive fondness for American life animated his cooperation with the CIA—this despite having been kept in solitary confinement for three years by Jack’s suspicious predecessors in the SE Division. It was a lesson that would apply to another KGB officer with American tastes who would soon enter his life.


In 1978, the Platts left Paris and settled again in the US, and Cowboy Jack returned to the Agency’s dreaded Langley headquarters, where he joined three hundred other SE officers. The SE was known to be the most elite, secretive, and cliquish division at the CIA, but Cowboy had little need for in-crowd mentality; he was all about the mission. By far the most fulfilling of Cowboy’s new tasks was continuing to assist in the resettlement of refugees from the war-torn regions of Laos, Vietnam, and Cambodia. However, most of Jack’s time was spent in the counterintelligence world, and that was another story altogether.


At this time, the Agency was helmed by Jimmy Carter appointee Admiral Stansfield Turner, and like Jack’s numerous other executive nemeses, Turner was set in his ways, reflexively refusing to explore creative methods for conducting espionage. Thus, always looking to get away from the CIA’s bean counters and careerists, Jack succeeded, after six months at SE, in having himself assigned to one of the newly established domestic stations: the DC branch, where he managed “Soviet recruitment operations.” The secret facility, located in Bethesda, Maryland, was housed in the recently built (1972) thirteen-story Air Rights Center at 7315 Wisconsin Avenue—just thirteen miles (but a universe) away from the suits on Langley’s seventh floor. The station operated in four small rented offices under the commercial cover of a consulting firm. In the lower right-hand corner of Jack’s desk was a fully stocked cooler for beers, but the best part for Jack was being reunited with his friend and mentor Hav Smith, who was the new outpost’s Chief of Station. (Jack’s ultimate boss was SE Division chief Dick Stolz, former COS in Moscow and one of the Agency’s most respected officers.)


Although it is widely perceived that the CIA has a strictly foreign mandate, this is not the case. Its Domestic Operations Division (later the National Resources Division) was formed in the early 1960s, with the sole mission of targeting and recruiting foreign nationals of interest living in the US. However, once a target was identified, the Agency had to coordinate with the FBI, which, per regulation, would take the lead on the joint operation. Of course, as has been extensively documented, this interagency arrangement, rife with career rivalries, did not always operate as smoothly as would be hoped.


The aim of the CIA’s new DC Station was to target—and turn—KGB officers working out of the Soviet Embassy. “I was doing what we called ‘residency analysis’ of the Soviet compound,” Jack recalled. “By our count, they employed over one hundred spies in Washington, either KGB or GRU [military intelligence].” The effort, which was coordinated with the FBI’s W. Lane Crocker, had failed for forty years to turn a local KGB man, although the Russian-speaking Crocker had a legendary reputation for unmasking KGB agents in the US. The fifteen FBI assignees to Crocker’s so-called KGB Squad, or CI-4,* held to their mantra: “Identify, penetrate, neutralize.” Like the SE Division at the CIA, it was often described as the best squad in the Bureau.


Now, with the specter of nuclear annihilation ever on their shoulders, it was hoped that in combination with the skills of the CIA’s best, the FBI could end that losing streak. For Jack, the joint operation also meant new friendships with G-men, as well as a burgeoning respect for their bureaucracy, which seemed to move with more energy and efficiency than his own CIA’s.


Jack had long ago concluded that a doomed strategy for turning an asset was the “cold pitch”—cornering a target by surprise and proposing a spy arrangement. To illustrate his point, Jack told the story of a CIA deputy of his named Nick, who was tailed by the KGB to a menacing monastery in Kiev called Pechersk Lavra, or Monastery of the Caves. Pechersk Lavra was known for its ominous and narrow corridors, where many prominent Orthodox Christians had been buried over the centuries. In a ham-handed cold pitch, a KGB agent, who had met Nick in the Sudan, followed him into the catacombs and proposed that he spy for the Soviets. “In the movies,” Jack said, “the target surrenders, fearing for his life.” In reality, the op had all the power of a wet fart. Nick told the sinister agent, “You gotta be shitting me.” Nick simply walked out of the caves, called Jack, and said, “You’re not going to believe what the Russians just tried.” Not only did the KGB fail to turn Nick; the CIA removed him from his post at the State Department just to be on the safe side, thereby ensuring he could never be of any value to them, and alerted the US intelligence community of what the Soviets were up to.
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